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CIRCULAR
PRESCRIBING THE COMPANY MANAGEMENT APPLICABLE TO PUBLIC COMPANIES

Pursuant to the Law on Government organization No. 32/2001/QH10 on December 25, 2001;
Pursuant to the Law on Enterprise No. 60/2005/QH10 on November 29, 2005; 

Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 70/2006/QH11 on June 29, 2006;

Pursuant to the Law on amending and supplementing a number of articles of the Law on Securities No. 62/2010/QH12 on November 24, 2010;
Pursuant to the Government's Decree No. 102/2010/NĐ-CP on October 01, 2010 guiding the implementation of the Law on Enterprise;
Pursuant to the Government's Decree No. 118/2008/NĐ-CP of November 27, 2008 on defining the functions, tasks, powers and organizational structure of the Ministry of Finance;
At the proposal of the Director of the State Securities Commission, the Minister of Finance promulgates the Circular on the company management applicable to public companies as follows:
Chapter I
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
Article 1. Scope of regulation 
This Circular specifies the company management applicable to public companies

Article 2. Interpretation of terms
In this Circular, the following terms are construed as follows:

1. Relevant persons are individuals or organizations specified in Clause 34 Article 6 of the Law on Securities.

2. Non-executive members of the Board of Directors are members of the Board of Directors that are not the Director (General Director), Deputy Director (Deputy General Director), Chief accountant and other managers designated by Board of Directors.

3. Independent members of the Board of Directors are members of the Board of Directors that satisfy the following conditions:

- Not being a non-executive member of the Board of Directors and not related to the Director (General Director), Deputy Director (Deputy General Director), Chief accountant and other managers designated by Board of Directors.

- Not being a member of the Board of Directors, the Director (General Director), Deputy Director (Deputy General Director) of subsidiary companies, associate companies, or controlled by public companies;

- Not being a major shareholder or the representative of the major shareholder, or the relevant person of the major shareholder of the company

- Not working for organizations that provide legal consulting or audit services of the company within the previous two (02) years;

- Not being the partner or the relevant person of the partner of whom the value of transaction with the company account for at least 30% of the total revenue, or the total value of goods and services purchased by the company within the previous two (02) years.

Chapter II
SHAREHOLDERS AND GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF SHAREHOLDERS 
Article 3. Rights and obligations of shareholders
1. Shareholders have all rights and obligations as prescribed by the Law on Enterprise, relevant documents, the Company’s charter, especially:

a)The right to transfer the shares paid and recorded in the shareholder book of the company, except for the case of restricted transfer as prescribed by law, the company’s charter or the decision of the General assembly of shareholders;

b) The right to fair treatment. Each shares of the same kind bring the shareholders equal rights, obligations and interests. If the company has preferential shares, the rights and obligations attached to such preferential shares must be announced to the shareholders and approved by General assembly of shareholders;

c) The right to be notified of periodic and irregular information about the company’s operation;

d) The rights and obligations to attend the meetings of General assembly of shareholders and to vote directly or via a representative, or to do distance voting;

dd) The priority to purchase new shares proportionally to the share being held.

2. The shareholders are entitled to protect their lawful interests. In case the decisions made by the General assembly of shareholders or the Board of Directors are not lawful or violate the fundamental interests of shareholders as prescribed by law, shareholders are entitled to request the cancellation of such decisions under the procedures prescribed by law.  In case such decisions causes damage to the company, then the Board of Directors, the Control Board, the Executive Director (General Director) must pay compensation to the company within their scope of responsibility. Shareholders are entitled to claim compensation from the company as prescribed by law.

Article 4. Responsibility of major shareholders
1. Major shareholders must no take advantage to cause damage to the rights and interests of the company and other shareholders.

2. Shareholders are responsible for disclosing information as prescribed by law.

Article 5. The company’s charter
1. The company’s charter must not contradict the Law on Enterprise and relevant documents.

2. Public companies shall refer to the Charter sample in the Annex of this Circular to draw up their own charter.

Article 6. Annual and irregular General assembly of shareholders
1. Public companies must formulate and announce the procedures for convening and voting at General assembly of shareholders as prescribed by the Law on Enterprise, relevant legal documents and the company’s charter, including the following contents:

a) The closing of the list of shareholders entitled to attend General assembly of shareholders;

b) The announcement of the General assembly of shareholders;

c) The method of registering for attending General assembly of shareholders 

d) The voting method;

dd) The method of vote counting. For sensitive issues and at the request from shareholders, the public company must appoint an independent organization to collect and count the votes.

e) The announcement of the voting result;

g) The method for challenging the decisions from the General assembly of shareholders;

h) Making the minutes of the General assembly of shareholders;

i) Announcing the decisions of the General assembly of shareholders to the public;

k) Other issues

2. public companies must comply with the procedures for convening the General assembly of shareholders as prescribed by law, by the company’s charter and by their internal regulations. Public companies must disclose the information about the closing of the list of shareholders entitled to attend General assembly of shareholders at least five (05) days before closing the list; Public companies must not restrict the shareholders from attending the General assembly of shareholders and must facilitate the shareholders’ authorizing their representatives to attend the General assembly of shareholders, or voting by registered letters at their requests. Public companies must guide the procedures for authorizing and make the Letter of attorney for their shareholders as prescribed.

3. The Board of Directors or the General assembly of shareholders convener shall set the agenda, arrange the location and time reasonable for discussing and voting each issue in the General assembly of shareholders meeting.

4. Public companies must apply as much as possible the modern information technology so that their shareholders may attend the General assembly of shareholders easily, including guiding the distance voting, or voting via online meetings of General assembly of shareholders.

5. Public companies must hold the annual General assembly of shareholders as prescribed by the Law on Enterprise. The annual General assembly of shareholders must not be held in form of getting the shareholders’ opinion in writing.

6. Public companies shall specify the principles, contents, and procedures for getting the shareholders' opinion in writing in their company’s charter or their internal regulations in order to pass the decisions made by General assembly of shareholders. if the opinion is made in writing, the public company must completely send and announce the documents, make sure that their shareholders have enough time to read the documents before sending them votes similarly to the General assembly of shareholders.

Article 7. Reports on the operation of annual General assembly of shareholders
The report on the operation of annual General assembly of shareholders must include the following contents:

- The assessment of the company’s operation in the fiscal year;

- The operation, wages, and cost of the Board of Directors and each member of the Board of Directors;

- The summary of the meetings of the Board of Directors and the decisions of the Board of Directors;

- The results of the supervision over the executive Director (General Director);

- The results of the supervision over other managers;

- The future plans.

Article 8. The reports on the operation of the Control Board at the annual General assembly of shareholders
The reports on the operation of the Control Board at the annual General assembly of shareholders must include the following contents:
- The operation, wages and cost of the Control Board and each member of the Control Board;

- The summary of the meetings of the Control Board and the decisions of the Control Board;

- The assessment of the company’s operation and finance;

- The results of the supervision over the members of the Board of Directors, the  executive Director (General Director), and other managers;

- The reports on the cooperation between the Control Board and the Board of Directors, Director (General Director), and the shareholders.

Chapter III
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Article 9. Candidacy and nomination to members of the board of directors 
1. The information related to the Board of Directors candidates (in case the candidates are chosen) must be announce at least seven (07) days before convening the General assembly of shareholders on the company’s website so that the shareholders may study those candidates before voting. The information about the Board of Directors candidate must include:

- The full name and date of birth;

- The professional qualifications;

- The career;;

- The names of companies of which they are the members of the Board of Directors and other managing positions;

- The interests related to the company (if any);

- Other information (if any).

2. The Board of Directors candidates must make written commitments on the accuracy and reasonability of the information announced, and must promise to truthfully fulfill the duties if they are elected as the members of the Board of Directors.

3. The shareholders that have held voting shares for at least six (06) consecutive months at the time of closing the list of attending shareholders are entitled to aggregate their voting rights to vote for the Board of Directors candidates. The nomination of Board of Directors candidate by aggregating the voting rights must comply with the law provisions and the company’s charter.

4. In case the number of the Board of Directors candidates is not enough after nomination and candidacy, the Board of Directors may nominate more candidates or organize the nomination as prescribed in the company’s charter and internal regulations. The mechanism of nomination for the Board of Directors must be clearly announced, and must be approved by the General assembly of shareholders before the nomination.

5. The public company shall specify and guide the shareholders to vote for members of the Board of Directors by aggregating votes.

Article 10. The Board of directors membership
1. Members of the Board of Directors are not subjects banned from being members of the Board of Directors by laws and the company’s charter. Members of the Board of Directors may not be the company’s shareholders.

2. Public companies need to avoid the members of the Board of Directors holding multiple managing positions in the company to ensure the independence of the Board of Directors.

3. The President of Board of Directors must not concurrently hold the post of executive Director (General Director) unless this situation is approved at the annual General assembly of shareholders.

Article 11. The composition of the Board of directors
1. The number of members of the Board of Directors is from three (03) to eleven (11). The Board of Directors needs the balance of the members experienced in laws, finance, and the business line of the company.

2. The Board of Directors need the balance of the executive and non-executive members, at least one third (1/3) thereof must be non-executive members of the Board of Directors.

3. If a member loses his/her membership as prescribed by laws and the company’s charter, or is dismissed, or is not able to be a member of the Board of Directors for some reason, the Board of Directors may temporarily designate another person as a member of the Board of Directors as prescribed in the company’s charter. The voting of new members of the current Board of Directors must be carried out at the nearest General assembly of shareholders.

Article 12. The rights of members of the Board of Directors
Members of the Board of Directors have all the rights prescribed  by the Law on Enterprise, the relevant legal documents and the company’s charter, especially the right to receive information and documents about the finance and operation of the company and the units in the company.

Article 13. Responsibility and obligations of members of the Board of Directors
1. Members of the Board of Directors must fulfill their responsibility and obligations as prescribed by the Law on Enterprise and relevant legal documents.

2. Members of the Board of Directors must fulfill their duties truthfully, carefully in the best interest of the shareholders and the company.

3. Members of the Board of Directors must attend all the Board of Directors meetings and give opinion about the issues discussed.

4. Members of the Board of Directors must announced the wages that they receive from the subsidiary companies, associate companies and other organizations of which they are the representatives of the contributed capital of the company.

5. Members of the Board of Directors and relevant persons must report their transactions in the company’ share to the State Securities Commission and disclose the information about such transactions as prescribed by law.

6. Public companies may purchase responsibility insurance for members of the Board of Directors after obtaining the approval from General assembly of shareholders. This insurance does not cover the responsibilities of members of the Board of Directors related to the violations of laws and the company’s charter.

Article 14. Responsibility and obligations of the Board of Directors
1. The Board of Directors must fulfill their responsibility and obligations as prescribed by the Law on Enterprise and relevant legal documents.

2. The Board of Directors must be responsible to the shareholders for the company’ operation.

3. The Board of Directors must ensure that the company’s operation is in compliance with laws, the company’s charter and internal regulation, must treat the shareholders fairly and respect the interests of the persons that are related to the company.

4. The Board of Directors shall formulate the procedures for nominating, self-nominating, voting, dismissing members of the Board of Directors, and the procedures for holding the Board of Directors meetings including the following primary contents:

a) The procedures for nominating, self-nominating, voting, dismissing members of the Board of Directors:

- The standards of members of the board of directors;

- The methods for nominating and self-nominating to the Board of Directors of shareholders and groups of share holders as prescribed by laws and the company’s charter; 

- The method for voting members of the Board of Directors;

- The cases of dismissing members of the Board of Directors;

- The notification about voting or dismissing members of the Board of Directors;

b) The procedures for holding the Board of Directors meetings.

- The announcement of the Board of Directors meetings (including the agenda, time, place, relevant documents, and votes for members of the Board of Directors that are not able to attend);

- The conditions for holding the Board of directors meetings;

- The voting method;

- The method for passing the Resolutions of the Board of Directors;

- The meeting minutes of the Board of Directors meetings;

- The announcement of the Resolutions of the Board of Directors;

5. The Board of Directors shall formulate the procedures for selecting, designating, and dismissing managers, and the procedures for cooperating among the Board of Directors, Control Board, executive Director (General Director), including the following primary contents:

a) Procedures for selecting, designating and dismissing senior managers:

- The criteria for selecting senior managers;

- The designation of senior managers;

- The labor contract conclusion with senior managers;

- The cases of dismissing senior managers;

- The announcement of designation and dismissal of senior managers.

b) The procedures for cooperating between the Control Board, the Board of Directors, and the executive Director (General Director):

- b) The procedures for convening meetings, writing meetings minutes among the Control Board, the Board of Directors, and the executive Director (General Director):

- The announcement of the Resolutions of the Board of Directors to the Control Board and the executive Director (General Director);

- The cases when the executive Director (General Director) and the Control Board request to hold the Board of Directors meetings, and the issues that need to obtain the opinion from the Board of Directors;

- The reports made by executive Director (General Director) sent to the Board of Directors on the fulfillment of the duties and authority delegated;

- The review of the executive Director’s (General Director's) implementing the Resolutions of and other authorization issues of the Board of Directors;

- The issues that the executive Director (General Director) must report. The methods for informing the Board of Directors and Control Board;

- The cooperation in control, management, and supervision among the members of the Board of Directors, members of the Control Board, and executive Director (General Director) in accordance with their specific duties.

6. The Board of Directors must formulate the mechanism of assessment, commendation and disciplinary actions applicable to members of the Board of Directors, executive Director (General Director), and other managers. 

7. The Board of Directors must report their operation at the General assembly of shareholders as prescribed in Article 7 of this Circular.

Article 15. The meetings of the Board of directors
1. The Board of Directors must hold meetings in accordance with the company’s charter and internal regulations. The Board of Directors meetings, the agenda and relevant documents must be notified in advance to members of the Board of Directors within the prescribed time.

2. The minutes of the Board of Directors meetings must be meticulously and clearly made. The secretary and members of the Board of Directors attending the meeting must sign on the meeting minutes. The Board of Directors meeting minutes must be kept as prescribed by law and the company’s charter.

Article 16. The wages of the Board of directors
1. The wages of the Board of Directors must be approved by the General assembly of shareholders every year and announced as prescribed

2. If a member of the Board of Directors concurrently hold the managerial positions of the company and the subsidiary companies, the wages announced must include the salaries and bonus attached to the managerial positions and other wages.

3. The wages, other benefits and expenses paid and allotted to members of the Board of Directors must be declared in details in the annual reports of the company.

Chapter IV
MEMBERS OF THE CONTROL BOARD AND THE CONTROL BOARD 
Article 17. Candidacy and nomination to members of the Control Board 
The candidacy and nomination to the Control Board is similar to the candidacy and nomination to the Board of Directors prescribed in Clause 1, 2, 3 and 5 Article 9 of this Circular, unless otherwise prescribed by the company’s charter.

In case the number of the Control Board candidates is not enough after nomination and candidacy, the current Control Board may nominate more candidates or organize the nomination as prescribed in the company’s charter. The mechanism of nomination for the current Control Board must be clearly announced, and must be approved by the General assembly of shareholders before the nomination.

Article 18. The Control Board membership 
1. Members of the Control Board are not subjects banned from being members of the Control Board by laws and the company’s charter. Members of the Control Board must be experienced and qualified. Members of the Board of Directors may not be the company’s shareholders.

2. Members of the Control Board must not work in the accounting, finance department, or members/employees of another independent audit company that audits the company’s Financial statements.

Article 19. The Control Board composition 
1. The number of members of the Control Board is from three (03) to five (05) persons. At least one of the members of the Control Board is an accountant or auditor.

2. The Chief of the Control Board must be qualified for accounting.

Article 20. The right to access information of members of the Control Board 
1. Members of the Control Board may access all the information and documents related to the company’s operation. The members of the Board of Directors, the executive Director (General Director), and other managers are responsible for providing information at the request of the members of the Control Board;

2. Public companies shall formulate the mechanism to support the members of the Control Board in operating and fulfilling their duties efficiently in accordance with law provisions and the company’s charter.

Article 21. Responsibility and obligations of the Control Board
1. The Control Board is responsible before the company’s shareholders for their supervision. The Control Board is responsible for supervising the company's finance, the legitimacy in the operation of the members of the Board of Directors, executive Director (General Director), and other managers, the cooperation between the Control Board, the Board of Directors, Director (General Director), and the shareholders, and other duties as prescribed by law and the company’s charter in order to protect the lawful interests of the company and its shareholders.

2. The Control Board must hold meetings at least twice a year. The number of members attending the meetings must account for at least two third (2/3) of the total number of Control Board members. The Control Board meeting minutes must be made meticulously and clearly. The secretary and members of the Control Board attending the meeting must sign on the meeting minutes. The Control Board meeting minutes must be kept to determine the responsibilities of each member of the Control Board.

3. In the Control Board meetings, the Control Board is entitled to request the answers from the members of the Board of Directors, the executive Director (General Director), the internal auditors (if any) and independent auditors to the issues about which the Control Board is concerned.

4. When the Control Board detects acts of violations of laws of the company’s charter committed by members of the Board of Directors, executive Director (General Director) or other managers, the Control Board must notify the Board of Directors in writing within forty eight (48) hours and request the violators to stop such violations and take remedial measures. Within seven (07) days as from being notified, if the violators fail to stop the violations and take remedial measures, the Control Board must report the case to the State Securities Commission.

5. The Control Board is entitled to select, and request the General assembly of shareholders to approve, independent audit organizations to audit the public company’s Financial statements.

6. The Control board must send reports to the annual General assembly of shareholders as prescribed in Clause 8 of this Circular.

Article 22. The wages of the Control board
The members of the Control board shall receive wages for fulfilling the duties of the Control Board every year. The wages of members of the Control board must be approved by the General assembly of shareholders. The total wages, other benefits and expenses paid and allotted to members of the Control Board must be announced in details in the annual reports of the company, and notified to its shareholders.

Chapter V
PREVENTION OF DISPUTE OVER INTERESTS
Article 23. The responsibility for avoiding dispute over interests of the members of the Board of Directors, the Control Board, the executive Director (General Director), and other managers;
1. The members of the Board of Directors, the Control Board, the executive Director (General Director), and other managers must announce their relevant interests as prescribed by the Law on Enterprise and relevant legal documents.

2. The members of the Board of Directors, the Control Board, the executive Director (General Director), other managers and persons related to these members must not take the business opportunities that may be beneficial to the company in the interests of their own/ or of other organizations or individuals.

3. The members of the Board of Directors, the Control Board, the executive Director (General Director), and other managers must notify the Board of Directors of the transactions between the company, subsidiary companies, companies controlled by the public company and those members or people related to those members as prescribed by law. Public companies must disclose the information about the Resolutions of the General assembly of shareholders or of the Board of Directors through the transactions stated above within twenty four (24) hours on their websites and send reports to the State Securities Commission.

4. The company must not grant the loans or guarantees to the members of the Board of Directors, the Control Board, the executive Director (General Director), other managers, and persons related to these members, unless otherwise decided by the General assembly of shareholders.

5. The members of the Board of Directors must not vote for the transactions in which they, or persons related to them, participate, including the transactions of which the material or non-material interests of members of the Board of Directors  are not identified. The transactions stated above must be announced in the company’s annual reports.

6. The members of the Board of Directors, the Control Board, the executive Director (General Director), other managers, and persons related to these members must not use the information that is not allowed to be disclosed, or reveal such information to other persons for making relevant transactions.

Article 24. Transactions with relevant persons
1. When making transactions with relevant persons, public companies must sign written contracts on the principle of equality and voluntarism. The contract content must be clear, specific, and the information must be provided for shareholders at their request.

2. Public companies must take necessary measures for preventing relevant persons interfering the company’s operation and causing damage to the company’s interest by controlling the sale channels or prices

3. Public companies must take necessary measures for preventing shareholders and relevant persons to make transactions that cause losses of capital, assets, or other resources of the company. Public companies must not grant loans or guarantees to their shareholders and relevant persons.

Article 25. Protect the lawful interests of the parties that are related to the company.
1. Public companies must respect the lawful interests of the parties that are related to the company including the banks, the creditors, the employees, the consumers, the suppliers, the community and other persons of whom the interests are related to the company.

2. Public companies must actively cooperate with the persons of whom the interests are related to the company by:

a) Providing necessary information for the banks and the creditors so that they may assess the company’s operation and finance then make decisions;

b) Encourage them to give opinion on the business, the finance and the crucial decisions related to their interests via the Board of Directors, the Control Board, or the executive Director (General Director).

3. Public companies must comply with the provisions on labor, environment, and must conduct responsibly.

Chapter VI
INFORMATION DISCLOSURE AND REPORT 
Article 26. Obligation to disclose information 
1. Public companies must completely, accurately and promptly disclose the periodic and irregular information about their business, production, finance and management to their shareholders and the public. The information and methods of information disclosure must comply with laws and the company’s charter. Besides, public companies must completely, accurately and promptly disclose other information if such information may possibly affect the securities prices, and the decisions of shareholders and investors.

2. The information must be disclosed using the methods that ensure the equitable access for shareholders and investors. The language used in information disclosure must be clear, comprehensible and avoid the misinterpretation of shareholders and investors.

Article 27. Disclosing information about the company management
1. Public companies must disclose the information about the company management at the annual General assemblies of shareholders and in the annual reports of the company as prescribed by law provisions on securities and the securities market.

2. Public companies must report every six (06) months and disclose the information about the company management as prescribed by law provisions on securities and the securities market.

Article 28. The responsibility for reporting and disclosing information of the members of the Board of Directors, the Control Board, and the executive Director (General Director):
Apart from the responsibilities prescribed in Article 23 of this Circular, the members of the Board of Directors, the Control Board, and the executive Director (General Director)are responsible for reporting and disclosing information about the transactions in the following cases:

1. The transactions between the company and another company of which the founders or the members of the Board of Directors, the executive Director (General Director) within the previous three (03) years are the members stated above.

2. The transactions between the company and another company in which the members stated above are the members of the Board of Directors, the executive Director (General Director), or major shareholders.

3. The transactions that may bring material or non-material interests to the members stated above.

Chapter VII
LARGE-SCALE PUBLIC COMPANIES AND LISTED COMPANIES 
Article 29. The application of company management to large-scale public companies and listed companies
1. The companies not satisfying the conditions for large-scale public companies and not being listed companies do not have to implement this Chapter.

2. When becoming a large-scale public company, the public company must send report to the State Securities Commission and disclose information as prescribed.

3. Large-scale public companies must have specific plans for implementing this Chapter. Large-scale public companies must comply with this Chapter within one (01) year as from becoming large-scale public companies.

Article 30. Members of the Board of Directors
1. The Board of Directors of a large-scale public company or a listed company must have five (5) to eleven (11) members.

2. The Board of Directors need the balance of the executive members and independent members, at least one third (1/3) thereof must be independent members of the Board of Directors.

3. A member of the Board of Directors of a company must not concurrently be a member of the Board of Directors of another company for more than five (05) years, unless the he/she is a member of the Board of Directors of the companies in the same corporation or in the same group of companies, including the parent company and subsidiary companies, or a representative of a fund management company, or a securities investment company.

Article 31. Internal regulation on the company management
1. The Board of Directors is responsible for formulating the internal regulation on the company management. The internal regulation on the company management must not contradict the current provisions on company management. The internal regulation must be announce on the company’s website.  The internal regulation on the company management includes:

a) The procedures for convening the General assembly of shareholders and voting at the General assembly of shareholders;

b) The procedures for nominating, self-nominating, voting, dismissing members of the Board of Directors;

c) The procedures for holding Board of Directors meetings;

d) Procedures for selecting, designating and dismissing managers;

dd) The procedures for cooperating between the Control board, the Board of Directors, and the executive Director (General Director):

e) The provisions on annual assessment, commendation and disciplinary actions applicable to members of the Board of Directors, members of the Control board, and the Director (General Director), and other managers;

g) The procedures for establishing and operating the sub-departments of the Board of Directors.

Article 32. The sub-departments of the Board of directors
1. The Board of Directors must establish sub-departments to support its operation, including the sub-department of development policy, the sub-department of personnel, the sub-department of salaries and commendations, and other special sub-departments under the Resolutions of the General assembly of shareholders.

2. The chiefs of the sub-department of personnel and the sub-department of salaries and commendations must be members of the Board of Directors.

3. The Board of Directors shall specify the establishment and responsibilities of the sub-departments and their members.

4. If the company does not establish sub-departments, then the Board of Directors shall designate independent members of the Board of Directors to be in charge of issues such as salaries, commendation, or personnel.

Article 33. The company’s secretary
1. In order to facilitate the company management, the Board of Directors must appoint at least one person as the secretary. The company’s secretary must have understanding of laws. The company’s secretary must not concurrently work for an audit company that audits the company’s Financial statements.

2. The company’s secretary’s duties include:

- Preparing the meetings of the Board of Directors, the Control Board and the General assembly of shareholders at the request from the Board of Directors or the Control Board;

- Giving advices about the procedures of the meetings;

- Attending the meetings;

- Ensuring the conformity of Resolutions of the Board of Directors with laws;

- Providing financial information, the copies of the Board of Directors meeting minutes and other information for members of the Board of Directors and members of the Control board.

3. The company’s secretary are responsible for the confidentiality of the information as prescribed by laws and the company’s charter.

Article 34. Training in the company management
The members of the Board of Directors, the Control Board, and the executive Director (General Director), and the secretary of a public company must attend the training courses on company management at training institutions accredited by the State Securities Commission.

Article 35. Independent auditors’ attending the General assembly of shareholders 
Auditors of representatives of an audit company must be invited to annual General assembly of shareholders so that they can give opinion at the General assembly of shareholders about the issues related to the Annual financial statements in case the Audit reports contain the crucial exceptions.

Chapter VIII
SUPERVISION AND HANDLING OF VIOLATIONS 
Article 36. Supervisions
Public companies, and relevant organizations and individuals must subject to the supervision over the company management from the State Securities Commission and other competent agencies as prescribed by law.

Article 37. Handling violations
Public companies, and relevant organizations and individuals that commit violations or omit to implement this Circular are liable to administrative sanctions or liable to criminal prosecution depending on the nature and extent of violations as prescribed by law.

Chapter IX.
ORGANIZING THE IMPLEMENTATION
Article 38. Organizing the implementation
1. This Circular takes effect on September 17, 2012 and supersedes the Minister of Finance’s Decision No. 12/2007/QĐ-BTC on March 13, 2007 promulgating the Regulation on company management applicable to companies listed at the Stock Exchange and Securities trading centers, the  Minister of Finance’s Decision No. 15/2007/QĐ-BTC on March 19, 2008 promulgating the Charter sample applicable to companies listed at the Stock Exchange and Securities trading centers. The provisions in Article 5, Article 6, Article 10, Article 11, Article 16, Article 17, Article 18, Article 19, Article 30, Article 31, Article 32, Article 35 shall takes effect at the annual General assembly of shareholders 2013.

2. The State Securities Commission, the Stock Exchange, public companies, and relevant organizations and individuals are responsible for implementing this Circular./.
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ANNEX

INTRODUCTION

I. DEFINITION OF TERMS IN THE CHARTER 

Article 1. Explanation of terms


II. NAME, FORM, HEAD OFFICE AND BRANCH, REPRESENTATIVE OFFICE AND DURATION OF OPERATION OF THE COMPANY

Article 2. Name, form, head office and branch, representative office and duration of operation of the company

III. OBJECTIVE AND SCOPE OF BUSINESS AND OPERATION OF THE COMPANY

Article 3. Objective of operation of the Company


Article 4. Scope of business and operation

IV. CHARTER CAPITAL, SHARE AND FOUNDING SHAREHOLDER


Article 5. Charter capital, share and founding shareholder


Article 6. Stock certificate 


Article 7. Other stock certificate


Article 8. Share transfer


Article 9. Share recovery


V. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE, MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL


Article 10. Organizational structure, management and control


VI. VI. SHAREHOLDERS AND GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF SHAREHOLDERS

Article 11. Rights of shareholder


Article 12. Obligations of shareholder


Article 13. General Assembly of Shareholders

Article 14. Rights and duties of General Assembly of Shareholders

Article 15. Authorized representatives


Article 16. Change of rights

Article 17. Convening General Assembly of Shareholders, agenda and announcing the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting;

Article 18. Conditions for conducting the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting
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INTRODUCTION

This Charter  is adopted by a valid decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders official held... month ... year ...

I. DEFINITION OF TERMS IN THE CHARTER 

Article 1. Explanation of terms

1. In this Charter, the terms below are construed as follows:

a. “Charter capital” is the capital contributed by all shareholders and specified in Article 5 of this Charter;


b. "Enterprise Law" means the Enterprise Law No. 60/2005/QH11 passed by the National Assembly on November 29, 2005;

c. "Establishment day" is the day on which the company is granted the certificate of enterprise registration (certificate of business registration) for the first time;

d. "Managers" is Executive Director (General Director), Deputy Director (Deputy General Director), Chief accountant, and other management positions in the Company approved by the Board of Directors;

đ. “Person concerned” is individual or organization prescribed in Clause 17, Article 4 of Enterprise Law;

e. “Duration of operation” is the operation time of the Company prescribed in Article 2 of this Charter and the extension time (if any) approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders of the Company by the resolution;

g.;"Vietnam" is the Socialist Republic of Vietnam;

...


2. In this Charter, the references to one or more of the provisions or other documents including the amendments or superseding documents.

3. The titles (chapters, articles of this Charter) are used to facilitate understanding of the content and does not affect the content of this Charter .

II. NAME, FORM, HEADQUARTERS AND BRANCH, REPRESENTATIVE OFFICE AND DURATION OF OPERATION OF THE COMPANY

Article 2. Name, form, headquarters and branch, representative office and duration of operation of the company

1. Company name

- Vietnamese name:


- English name:


- Transaction name:


- Abbreviated name:


2. Company is a joint-stock company with legal personality in accordance with the current law of Vietnam.

3. Registered Headquarters of the Company is:


- Address:


- Tel:


- Fax:


- E-mail:


- Website:


4. Chairman of the Board of Directors (or Executive Director or General Director) is the company’s legal representative.


5. The company may establish branch and representative office in the area of business to carry out the objectives of operation of the Company in accordance with the decision of the Board of Directors and to the extent permitted by law.

6. Unless termination of operations before the time limit under Clause 2 of Article 47 or extension of operations under Article 48 of this Charter, the duration of operation of the Company since its establishment and is indefinitely / .... year.

III. OBJECTIVE AND SCOPE OF BUSINESS AND OPERATION OF THE COMPANY

Article 3. Objective of operation of the company

1. Business area of the company is ............


2. Objective of operation of the company is

............


Article 4. Scope of business and operation

1. The company is allowed to make plan and conduct all business operations according to the Certificate of business registration and this Charter, in accordance with the provisions of the current law and implement appropriate measures to achieve the objectives of the Company.

2. The company may conduct business operations in other areas permitted by law and approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders.

IV. CHARTER CAPITAL, SHARE AND FOUNDING SHAREHOLDER

Article 5. Charter capital, share and founding shareholder

1. The company’s Charter capital is……dong (in letter)


Total Charter capital of the Company is divided into .... shares with a par value ....

2. The company can increase its Charter capital as approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders and in accordance with the provisions of the law.

3. The shares of the Company on the date of adoption of this Charter, including common share, controlling shares, special shares and preferred shares. The rights and obligations attached to each class of shares are regulated in Article 11 of this Charter.

4. The company can issue other preferred shares after having the approval of the General Assembly of Shareholders and in accordance with the provisions of the law.

5. Name, address, number of shares and other details about the founding shareholders in accordance with the Enterprise Law specified in Annex ... attached. This Appendix is a part of this Charter.

6. Common shares shall be offered with priority to the existing shareholders in proportion to the rate of its own common shares in the Company, unless the General Assembly of Shareholders decides otherwise. The number of shares not subscribed to buy by the shareholders shall be decided by the Board of Directors of the Company. The Board of Directors may distribute such shares to the subjects under the conditions and ways which the Board of Directors think appropriate, but not to sell such shares under more favorable conditions than that offered to the existing shareholders unless the shares are sold through the Stock Exchange by the auction method.

7. The Company may purchase shares issued by the right company by the ways prescribed in this Charter and current law. The shares acquired by the Company as treasury stocks and the Board of Directors may offer in ways consistent with the provisions of this Charter , the Securities Law and relevant guiding documents.

8. The company may issue other securities as approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders and in accordance with the provisions of the law.

Article 6. Stock certificate

1. Shareholders of the Company are issued stock certificates corresponding to the number of shares and class of shares owned.

2. Share certificates must have the seal of the company and signed by the legal representative of the Company under the provisions of the Enterprise Law. Share certificates must specify the number and class of shares held by shareholders, the full name of the holder and other information under the provisions of the Enterprise Law.

3. Within ... from the date of submission of complete dossiers to request the transfer of ownership of shares in accordance with regulations of the Company or within .... (or other period specified by issuance provisions) from the date of full payment of money to purchase shares as specified in the plan to issue shares of the Company, the holders of shares are issued stock certificate. The shareholders do not have to pay to the Company the cost of printing stock certificates.

4. Where the stock certificate has been damaged or erased or lost, stolen or destroyed, the stockholder of thoset stocks may require new issuance of stock certificate under conditions of evidence presentation of the ownership of shares and payment of all expenses related to the company.

Article 7. Other securities certificates

Bond certificates or other certificates of securities of the Company (except for the offering letter, temporary certificates and similar documents) are issued with the seal and signature of the legal representative of the company.

Article 8. Share transfer

1. All shares are freely transferable unless otherwise specified by this Charter and other legal provisions. The stocks listed on the Stock Exchange are transferred under the regulations of the law on securities and securities market.

2. The shares that have not been fully paid are not transferable and enjoyed relevant benefits such as the right to receive dividends, the right to receive shares issued to increase the share capital from the owner’s equity, the right to buy new shares offered for sale.

Article 9. Share recovery

1. Where shareholders do not make in full and in due time payment to purchase shares, the Board of Directors shall notify and have the right to request those shareholders to pay the remaining amount with interest on that amount and the costs arising to the company due to not making sufficient payment.


2. The above payment notice must specify the new payment period (a minimum of seven (07) days from the date of notice), place of payment and the notice must specify the case of non-payment as required, the number of shares not yet paid will be recovered.

3. The Board of Directors has the right to recover the shares not paid in full and in due time in case the requirements in the notice are not implemented.

4. Shares recovered are considered the shares with the offering right. The Board of Directors may directly or authorize the sale, redistribution or settlement for people who own shares recovered or other subbjects under the conditions and ways which the Board of Directors think appropriate.

5. Shareholders holding shares recovered must give up capacity as shareholders of those shares, but still pay all the relevant amount plus interest at the rate (not exceeding ......% a year) at the time of recovery by decision of the Board of Directors from the date of recovery until the date of making payment. The Board of Directors reserves the right to decide on the enforcement of payment of the total value of stocks at the time of recovery.

6. The recovery notice is sent to the shareholders recovered withdrawn prior to the time of recovery. The recovery is still valid even in case of shortcoming or negligence in sending notice.

V. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE, MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL

Article 10. Organizational structure, management and control

Organizational structure, management and control includes:


1. General Assembly of Shareholders;


2. Board of Directors;


3. Supervisory Board;


4. Executive Director (General Director)

VI. SHAREHOLDERS OF GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF SHAREHOLDERS

Article 11. Rights of shareholders

1. Shareholders as owners of the Company shall have the rights and obligations corresponding to the number of shares and class of shares that they own. Shareholders are only responsible for the debts and other property obligations of the Company to the extent of capital contributed to the company.

2. People holding common shares have the following rights:


a. To attend and express their opinions in the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting and exercise their direct voting right at the General Assembly of Shareholders or through authorized representative or through performance of remote voting;

b. To receive dividends by the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders;

c. To freely transfer the shares fully paid under the provisions of this Charter and current law;

d. To have priority to purchase newly offered stocks correspond to the ratio of common shares they own;

đ. To review, look up and extract information related to the shareholders in the list of shareholders eligible to participate in the General Assembly of Shareholders and request the modification of incorrect information;

e. To review, look up and extract or photocopy the Company Charter, book of minutes and resolutions of the General Assembly of Shareholders;

g. In case the company is dissoluted or goes bankrupt, the shareholders shall receive a portion of the remaining assets in proportion to the number of shares contributed to the company after the company has paid to the creditors and shareholders of other classes of shares of the company in accordance with regulations of the law;

h. To require the Company to buy back their shares in cases prescribed by the Enterprise Law;

i. Other rights as prescribed by this Charter and the law.

(Rights for other classes of share)


3. Shareholder or group of shareholders holding ....% of the total number of common shares in a continuous period of six (06) months or more shall have the following rights:

a. To nominate members of the Board of Directors or Supervisory Board as prescribed in Clause 2 of Article 24 and Clause 2 of Article 32 of this Charter;

b. To request Board of Directors to convene the General Assembly of Shareholders as prescribed in Article 79 and Article 97 of the Enterprise Law;

c. To check and receive a copy or list of shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the General Assembly of Shareholders;

d. To request the Supervisory Board to check specific issues related to the management and running of operations of the Company as it deems necessary. The request must be made ​​in writing with full name, permanent address, nationality, identity card, passport or other lawful personal identification for shareholders as individual; names, permanent address, nationality, number of establishment decision or business registration number for shareholders as organizationsis, the number of shares and time of registration of the shares of each shareholder, the total number of shares of the group of shareholders and the percentage of ownership of shares of the Company; issues in need of inspection and purposes of inspection;

dd. Other rights as prescribed in this Charter.


Article 12. Obligations of shareholders

The shareholders have the following duties:


1. To comply with the Charter and the rules of the Company; to abide by the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders and the Board of Directors.

2. To participate in the General Assembly of Shareholders and exercise their direct voting right or through an authorized representative or perform remote voting. Shareholders may authorize the Board members to represent them at the General Assembly of Shareholders.

3. To make payment for the shares subscribed as prescribed.

4. To provide correct address upon registration to buy shares.


5. To complete other obligations as prescribed by the current law.

6. To take personal responsibilities in the name of the Company in any form to perform one of the following acts:


a. To violate law;


b. To conduct the business and other transactions for personal benefits or serving benefits of other individuals;


c. To make undue payment of debts before the financial risk can occur for the company.

Article 13. General Assembly of Shareholders

1. General Assembly of Shareholders is the highest agency of the Company. The annual General Assembly of Shareholders is held once a year (01). The General Assembly of Shareholders must hold annual meeting for a period of four (04) months from the end dated of the financial year.

2. The Board of Director shall convene the Annual General Assembly of Shareholders and selection of appropriate site. The annual General Assembly of Shareholders shall decide the issues as prescribed by law and the Charter  of the Company, particularly through the annual financial statements and estimates for the next financial year. The independent auditors may be invited to attend the meeting to advise the adoption of the annual financial report.

3. The Board of Directors must convene an extraordinary General Assembly of Shareholders in the following cases:

a. The Board of Directors deems it necessary for the benefit of the Company;


b. The Annual balance sheet, quarterly or biannual reports or fiscal year audit report shall reflect the equity that has been lost one-half (1/2) compared with the figure of the beginning of period;

c. When the number of members of the Board of Directors is less than the number of members prescribed by law, or less than half the number of members specified in the Charter;

d. The Shareholders or group of shareholders prescribed in Clause 3, Article 11 of the Charter require to convene a General Assembly of Shareholders in writing. The requirement to convene the General Assembly of Shareholders must state the reason and purpose of the meeting with adequate signature of the shareholder concerned or a written request shall be made ​​in multiple copies, each of which must be signed by minimum of one shareholder concerned;

e. The Supervisory Board requires to convene a meeting if the Board of Supervisors has reason to believe that the members of the Board of Directors or senior managers have seriously violated their obligations under Article 119 of the Enterprise Law or the Board of Directors have acted or intended to act outside the scope of its powers;

f. Other cases prescribed by law and the company's Charter.

4. To convene the extraordinary General Assembly of Shareholders

a. The Board of Director must convene a General Assembly of Shareholders within thirty (30) days from the date of the number of remaining Board members as prescribed at Point c, Clause 3, Article 13, or get the requirements prescribed at Points d and e, Clause 3 of Article 13;

b. If the Board fails to convene the General Assembly of Shareholders as prescribed at Point a, Clause 4, Article 13, within the following thirty (30) days, the Supervisory Board must replace the Board of Directors and convene the General Assembly of Shareholders as prescribed in Clause 5, Article 97 of the Enterprise Law.

c. Where the Supervisory Board fails to convene the General Assembly of Shareholders as prescribed at Point b, Clause 4, Article 13, within the following thirty (30) days, the shareholders or group of shareholders with requirements prescribed at Point a, Clause 3, have the right to replace the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board to convene the General Assembly of Shareholders as prescribed in Clause 6, Article 97 of the Enterprise Law.

In this case, the shareholder or group of shareholders that convene a General Assembly of Shareholders have the right to request the business registration agency to supervise order and procedures for convening and conducting meetings and making decisions of the General Assembly of Shareholders. All expenses for convening and conducting meetings of the General Assembly of Shareholders shall be reimbursed by the company. These expenses do not include the cost of the shareholders upon attending the General Assembly of Shareholders, including travel and accommodation expenses.

Article 14. Rights and duties of the General Assembly of Shareholders

1. Annual General Assembly of Shareholders has the right to discuss and approve:

a. Annual financial statement audited;


b. Report of the Board of Directors;


c. Report of the Supervisory Board;


d. Plan for long-term and short term development.


2. The irregular annual General Assembly of Shareholders adopts the following issues:


a. Adoptation of the annual financial statements;


b. The dividend yield annually paid to each class of share is in accordance with the Enterprise Law and the rights attached to such shares. This dividend yield is not higher than the dividend proposed by the Board of Directors after consultation with the shareholders at the General Assembly of Shareholders;

c. A number of members of Board of Directors;


d. Selection of auditing company;


dd. Election and dismissal, removal and replacement of members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board;


e. Total remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and the remuneration report of the Board of Directors;


g. Supplementation and amendment of Company Charter;


h. Class of share and the number of new shares issued for each class of share and the transfer of shares of the founding members in the first three years from the date of establishment;

i. Division, splitting, consolidation, merger or transformation of the Company;


k. Reorganization and dissolution (liquidation) of the Company and appointment of liquidator;

l. Inspection and handling of violations of the Board of Directors or Supervisory Board causing damages to the Company and the shareholders of the Company;

m. Decision on transaction of sale of the Company’s assets or its branches or transaction of purchase worth 50% or more of the total value of the Company’s assets and its branches stated in the most recent financial statements audited;

n. The company buys back more than 10% of a class of shares issued;

o. Việc Giám đốc (Tổng giám đốc) điều hành đồng thời làm Chủ tịch Hội đồng quản trị;


Issue concerning the Executive Director (General Director) concurrently the Chairman of the Board of Director;


p. The company or its branches have signed contracts with the persons specified in Clause 1, Article 120 of the Enterprise Law with a value equal to or greater than 20% of the total value of assets of the Company and its branches stated in the most recent financial statements audited;

q. Other issues under the provisions of this Charter and other regulations of the Company.

3. Shareholders are not entitled to vote in the following cases:

a. Through the contracts specified in Clause 1 of Article 14 when that shareholder or person related to that shareholder is a party to the contract;

b. The buyback of shares of that shareholder or of persons related that shareholder except that the buyback of shares is made ​​in proportion to the ownership of all shareholders or the buyback is made through order matching or tender offer on the Stock Exchange.

4. All resolutions and other issues have been put on the agenda shall be discussed and voted on at the General Assembly of Shareholders.

Article 15. Authorized representatives

1. The shareholders entitled to attend the General Assembly of Shareholders by law may authorize the participation to their representatives. Where there is more than one representative appointed, then to the number of shares and the number of votes authorized for each representative.

2. The authorization for a representative to attend the General Assembly of Shareholders shall be made in writing under the form of the Company and shall be signed in accordance with the following provisions:

a. In case of individual shareholder as authorizer, the power of attorney must be signed by that shareholder and the authorized person to attend the meeting;

b. Where the authorized representatives of shareholders as organization as an authorizer, the power of attorney must be signed by an authorized representative, the legal representative of the shareholder and the person authorized to attend the meeting;

c. In other cases, the power of attorney must be signed by the legal representative of the shareholder and the person authorized to attend the meeting.

Persons authorized to attend the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting must submit the written authorization before entering the meeting room.

3. Where the lawyer on behalf of the authorizer to sign a certificate of representative appointment, the representative appointment in this case is only considered valid if the certificate of representative appointment is presented with the written authorization for lawyer or a valid copy of that power of attorney (if not previously registered with the company).

4. Unless otherwise specified in Clause 3, Article 15, the vote of the authorized person to attend a meeting in the scope of authorization remains in effect when there is one of the following cases:

a. The authorizer dies, is restricted from civil act capacity or loses civil act capacity;

b. The authorizer has cancelled the the authorization appointment;


c. The authorizer has cancelled the competence of the authorized person.


This provision does not apply in the event the Company receives notice of one of the above events before the opening of the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting or before the meeting is reconvened.

Article 16. Change of rights

1. The change or cancellation of the special rights attached to a class of preferred shares becomes effective when the shareholders holding at least 65% of the common shares attending the meeting have adopted simultaneously voted by the shareholders holding at least 75% of the voting rights of the said preferred shares. The organization of meeting of the shareholders holding one class of preferred shares to approve the change of the above rights is valid only when there are at least two (02) Shareholders (or their authorized representative) and holding at least one-third (1/3) the par value of the issued shares of that class. Where there is no sufficient number of deputies as mentioned above, the meeting shall be held within thirty (30) days later and the shareholders of that class (regardless of the number of people and number of shares ) present personally or through authorized representatives are regarded as a sufficient number of delegates required. At the meeting of the shareholders holding the preferred shares mentioned above, the shareholders of that class present personally or through a representative may request a secret ballot. Each share of the same class have equal voting rights at the meetings mentioned above.

2. Procedures for conducting such separate meeting shall be made similar to the provisions in Article 18 and Article 20 of this Charter.

3. Unless the terms of issue of shares otherwise provided, the special rights attached to the preferred shares to some or all of the issues related to the distribution of profits or assets of the company shall not be changed when the Company issued additional shares of the same class.

Article 17. Convening General Assembly of Shareholders, agenda and announcing the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting

1. The Board of Directors convenes a General Assembly of Shareholders or the General Assembly of Shareholders is convened in the cases specified at Points b or c, Clause 4, Article 13 of this Charter.

2. The person who convenes the General Assembly of Shareholders must carry out the following duties:

a. To prepare a list of shareholders eligible to participate and vote at the meeting within thirty (30) days prior to the start date of the General Assembly of Shareholders; agenda, and documents prescribed in accordancewith the laws and regulations of the Company;

b. To determine the time and location of the meeting organization;


c. To notify and send notice of the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting to all shareholders entitled to attend the meeting.

3. The notice of the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting shall be sent to all shareholders at the same time published in the media of the Stock Exchange (for companies listed or registered transactions), on the Company's website. The Notice of the General Assembly of Shareholders shall be sent at least fifteen (15) days before the General Assembly of Shareholders, (from the date on which the notice is sent or transferred legally with postage or put in the mailbox). The agenda of the General Assembly of Shareholders, the documents relating to the issues to be voted at the meeting shall be sent to the shareholders and / or posted on the Company's website. In cases where the documents are not sent attached to the notice of the General Assembly of Shareholders, the meeting notice must state the website address so that the shareholders can access.

4. The shareholders or group of shareholders referred to in Clause 3, Article 11 of this Charter have the right to propose issues included in the agenda of the General Assembly of Shareholders. The proposal must be made ​​in writing and must be sent to the Company at least three (03) days prior to the opening day of the General Assembly of Shareholders. The proposal must be included the shareholders’ full names, the number and class of shares he or she holds, and contentsfor inclusion in the agenda.

5. The person convening the General Assembly of Shareholders hase the right to reject proposals relating to Clause 4 of Article 17 in the following cases:

a. Proposals are not sent in due time or with indequate and improper content.

b. At the time of the proposal, a shareholder or group of shareholders do not have at least ...% of the common shares in the period of six (06) continuous months as prescribed in Clause 3, Article 11 of this Charter ;

c. Proposed issues are not within the scope of competence of the General Assembly of Shareholders for discussion and adoption;

d. Other cases.


6. The Board of Directors must prepare the draft resolution for each issue in the agenda.

7. Where all shareholders representing 100% of the shares with voting rights directly participate in or attend through authorized representative at the General Assembly of Shareholders, the decisions unanimously adopted by the General Assembly of Shareholders are considered valid even in case the convening of the General Assembly of Shareholders is not conformity with process and the procedures or voting content is not in the program.

Article 18. Conditions for conducting the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting

1. General Assembly of Shareholders shall be conducted when the number of shareholders represents at least 65% of shares with voting rights.

2. Where there is no sufficient number of delegates required within thirty (30) minutes from the time set for the opening of the meeting, the person convening shall cancel the meeting. The General Assembly of Shareholders shall be convened within thirty (30) days from the date of planning the organization of the first General Assembly of Shareholders. The General Assembly of Shareholders reconvened shall only be conducted when there are participants as shareholders and their authorized representatives to attend the meeting represent at least 51% of shares with voting rights.

3. Where the second meeting is not conducted due to insufficient number of deputies required within thirty (30) minutes after the time set for the opening of the meeting, the General Assembly of Shareholders for the third time can be held within twenty (20) days from the date of planning the organization of the second General Assembly of Shareholders and in this case the meeting shall be conducted regardless of the number of shareholders or authorized representative to attend and is considered to be valid and has the right to decide all issued expected to be approved at the the first General Assembly of Shareholders.

Article 19. Procedures for conducting the meeting and voting at the General Assembly of Shareholders

1. On the day of the General Assembly of Shareholders, the Company must perform the procedures for registration of shareholders and fulfill the registration until the shareholders entitled to attend the meeting are present and complete the registration.

2. When conducting the registration of shareholders, the Company shall issue to each shareholder or authorized representative with the voting right a voting card on which the registration number, full name of the shareholder, the full name of authorized representative and the number of votes of those shareholders. When conducting the voting at the meeting, a number of approving cards shall be firstly collected, a number of disapproving cards are collected later and finally counting of approving and disapproving votes for decide making. A total number of approving, disapproving and abstaining or invalid votes of each issue shall be announced by the Chairperson immediately after conducting the voting on that issue. The meeting shall elect the person responsible for counting the votes or supervising the counting of votes at the request of the Chairperson. The members of the vote counting committee shall be decided by the General Assembly of Shareholders based on the basis of the proposal of the Chairperson but not exceed the number of people prescribed by law.

3. The shareholders coming late to attend the General Assembly of Shareholders have the right to register at once and then participate and vote at the meeting. The chairman does not have the responsibility to stop the meeting for the late shareholders to make registration and the validity of the voting phase conducted before shareholders coming late shall not be affected.

4. Chairman of the Board of Directors shall preside over the meetings convened by the Board of Directors. If the chairman is absent or temporarily unable to work, the remaining members shall elect one of them to preside over the meeting. Where there is no one able to act as a Chairman, the member of the Board of Directors who has the highest position shall control so that the General Assembly of Shareholders can elect the chairman of the meeting among the participants and the person with the highest votes shall be appointed as chairman of the meeting.

In other cases, the person who signs to convene a General Assembly of Shareholders of Shareholders shall control the General Assembly of Shareholders to elect the chairman of the meeting and the person with the highest votes shall be appointed as chairman of the meeting.

5. The chairman who has the right to decide on the order and procedures for events arising out of the program of the General Assembly of Shareholders.

6. Chairman of the meeting may postpone the meeting upon the consent or request of the General Assembly of Shareholders with sufficient delegates to attend the meetings as required.

7. The chairman or secretary of the meeting can carry out the necessary activities to control the General Assembly of Shareholders legally and orderly or let the meeting reflect the expiration of majority of participants.

8. The Board of Directors may require the shareholders or their authorized representatives to attend the General Meeting of Shareholders to be subject to inspection or security measures that the Board of Director deems it appropriate. Where a shareholder or authorized representative refuses to comply with these regulations on inspection or the security measures mentioned above, the Board of Directors after considering carefully can reject or drive out the shareholder or representative above mentioned from participating in the meeting.

9. Board of Directors, after careful consideration, shall be able to carry out the measures the Board deems appropriate for the purpose:

a. To arrange seat at the meeting place of the General Assembly of Shareholders;


b. To ensure the safety of everyone present at the meeting place;


c. To facilitate the shareholders to attend (or keep on attending) the meeting.


The Board of Directors reserves the right to change the above measures and apply all measures if the Board of Directors deems it necessary. The measures applicable may be the issuance of admission or use other forms of option.

10. In case the General Assembly of Shareholders may apply the measures above mentioned, the Board of Directors upon determining the location of the meeting may:

a. Notify the meeting shall be conducted at the place stated in the notice and the chairman of the meeting is there ("Major place of meeting");

b. Arrange and organize for the shareholders or authorized representatives who cannot not attend the meeting under this Article or the persons who wish to participate in a location other than the major location of the meeting can also attend the meeting;

The notice of the meeting organization does not need to specify the measures of organization under this Article.


11. In this Charter (unless otherwise required by the context), all shareholders are considered to participate in the meeting at the major location of the meeting.

Annually, the Company shall held the General Assembly of Shareholders at least one (01) time. The annual General Assembly of Shareholders is not held in the form of gathering opinions in writing.

Article 20. Adopting the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders

1. Unless otherwise specified in Clause 2 of Article 20, the decisions of the General Assembly of Shareholders on the following issues shall be adopted when 65% or more of the total votes of the shareholders entitled to vote are present personally or through an authorized representative present at the General Assembly of Shareholders:

a. Adoption of Annual financial statement;


b. Short-and long-term plan of development of the company;


c. Election, dismissal, removal and replacement of members of the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board and making report on the appointment of the Director (General Director) of the Board of Directors.

2. The decisions of the General Assembly of Shareholders relating to the amendments and supplementation of the Charter , the class of stock and number of stocks offered, the reorganization or dissolution of enterprise, purchase and sale of company’s assets or its branches done at the value of 50% or more of the total value of the company’s assets based on the most recent financial statements audited adopted when 75% or more of the total votes of the shareholders entitled to vote present personally or through authorized representatives present at the General Assembly of Shareholders (in the case of direct meeting) or at least 75% of the total votes of the shareholders having the right to approve (in the case of gathering shareholders’ opinions in writing).

Article 21. Competence and procedures for opinion gathering in writing to adopt the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders

Competence and procedures for opinion gathering in writing to adopt the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders shall comply with the following provisions:

1. The Board of Directors has the right to gather the shareholders’ opinions in writing to adopt the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders at any time if deemed necessary for the benefit of the Company.

2. The Board of Directors must prepare the questionnaire, the draft of resolution of the General Assembly of Shareholders and other documents explaining the draft of decision. The questionnaire attached to the draft of decision and explanation document must be sent by a guaranteed method to reach the registered address of each shareholder. The Board of Director must submit and publish documents to the shareholders within a reasonable time for consideration and voting and must send at least fifteen (15) days before the expiration date of receipt of the questionnaire.

3. The questionnaire must have the following principal contents:

a. Name and address of the head office, number and date of issuance of the business registration Certificate, registered place of business of the Company;

b. Purpose for opinion gathering;


c. Full name, permanent address, nationality, identity card Number, Passport or other legal personal identification papers of shareholder as individual; name, permanent address, nationality, number of establishment decisions or business registration number of the shareholder or authorized representative of the shareholders as organization; the number of shares of each class and the number of votes of the shareholders;

d. Issues to be consulted for decision adoption;


đ. Voting plan includes approval, disapproval and no opinion for each issue to be consulted.

e. Time limit for sending the answered questionnaire to the company;

g. Full name and signature of the Chairman of the Board of Director and the legal representative of the company.

4. The answered questionnaire must bear the signature of the shareholder as individual, authorized reprensentative or the legal representative of the shareholders as organization.

The questionnaire sent to the Company must be in a sealed envelope, and no one shall be permitted to open it prior to the counting of votes. The questionnaire that the company receives after the time limit specified in the questionnaire or opened invalid or opened shall become invalid.

5. The Board of Directors shall count votes and make record of counting of votes in the presence of the Supervisory Board or shareholders who do not hold the position of company management. The record of counting of votes shall have the following principal contents:

a. Name and address of the head office, number and date of issuance of the business registration certificate, place of business registration;

b. Purpose and the issues to be consulted for approval decision;


c. The number of shareholders with the total number of votes has participated to vote, in which distinguishing the valid and invalid votes, including an appendix of list of shareholders to vote;


d. Total approving votes, disapproving votes and abstaining votes for each issue;


e. Decisions have been adopted;


g. Full name and signature of the Chairman of the Board of Director, the legal representative of the company and of the supervisor of the vote counting.

The members of the Board of Directors and the supervisor of the vote counting shall be jointly responsible for the truthfulness and accuracy of the record of the counting of votes; jointly responsible for damages arising from decisions adopted by untruthful and inaccurate counting.

6. Record of vote counting must be published on the Company’s website within twenty four (24) hours and sent to the shareholders within fifteen (15) days from the date of completion of vote counting.


7. The answered questionnaire, the minutes of the vote counting, the full text of the resolution adopted and relevant documents enclosed with the questionnaire must be kept at the head office of the Company.

8. Decision adopted in the form of opinion gathering in writing of the shareholders must be approved by shareholders representing at least 75% of the total number of shares with voting rights and valued as decisions adopted at the General Assembly of shareholders meeting.

Article 22. Minutes of the General Assembly of Shareholders meeting

The person who presides over the General Assembly of Shareholders shall have to organize the storage of the minutes of the General Assembly of Shareholders. The minutes of the General Assembly of Shareholders shall be published on the Company's website within twenty-four (24) hours and sent to all shareholders within fifteen (15) days from the end date of the General Assembly of Shareholders. The minutes of the General Assembly of Shareholders shall be regarded as evidence of the work conducted at the General Assembly of Shareholders unless there are objections about the content of the minutes given in accordance with the procedures specified within ten (10) days after sending the minutes. The minutes must be made in Vietnamese language, signed and certified by the Chair of the meeting and Secretary and made ​​in accordance with the Enterprise Law and this Charter. The records, minutes, signature book of the shareholders attending the meeting and written authorization to attend must be kept at the head office of the Company.

Article 23. Request for cancellation of decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders

Within ninety (90) days from the date of receipt of the minutes of the General Assembly of Shareholders or record of the results of the questionnaire counting from the General Assembly of Shareholders, shareholders, members of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board, Director (General Director) may request the court or arbitrator to consider and cancel the decision of the General Assembly of shareholders in the following cases:

1. The order and procedures for convening the General Assembly of Shareholders are not complied with the provisions of the Enterprise Law and the Charter of the Company.

2. The order and procedures for decision making and content of the decision violates law or the Charter of the company.

Where the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders is canceled by decision of the court or arbitrator, the person who convenes the General Assembly of Shareholders can consider reorganizing the General Assembly of Shareholders within.... day(s) by the order, the procedures stipulated in the Enterprise Law and this Charter .


VII. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Article 24. Components and term of members of Board of Directors


1. The number of Board members is at least ..... person(s) and eleven (11) persons. The term of the Board of Directors is five (05) years. The term of the Board members shall not exceed five (05) years; the Board members may be re-elected with unlimited number of terms. Total number of non-Executive  members of the Board or the independent Board members (for large-scale public companies and listed companies) must occupy at least one third (1/3) of the total number of Board members. The minimum number of Board members of the non-Executive / independent is determined by the method of rounding down.

2. The shareholders holding shares with voting rights in a continuous period of at least six (06) months may include the voting rights of each person together to nominate the members of the Board of Directors. Shareholder or group of shareholders holding 5% to less than 10% of the total number of shares with voting rights shall be entitled to nominate one (01) candidate; from 10% to less than 30% entitled to nominate up to two (02) ; from 30% to less than 40% entitled to nominate three (03) candidates; from 40% to 50% entitled to nominate up to four (04) candidates; from 50% to less than 60% entitled to nominate up to five (05) candidates; from 60% to less than 70% entitled to nominate up to six (06) candidates; between 70% and 80% entitled to nominate up to (07) candidates; and from 80% to less than 90% entitled to nominate up to eight (08) candidates.

3. Where the number of candidates to the Board through the nomination and self-nomination is not enough for the number as needed, the incumbent Board of Directors may nominate additional candidates or organize the nomination by the mechanism specified in the internal regulations of the Company on corporate governance. The nomination mechanism or the way the incumbent Board of Directors nominate the Board candidates must be clearly announced and must be approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders prior to the nomination.

4. Board member shall not have his capacity as the member of the Board of Directors in the following cases:

a. That member has no longer capacity as the member of the Board of Directors as prescribed by the Enterprise Law or is prohibited by law to become the member of the Board of Directors;

b. That member shall apply in writing for resignation to the headquarters of the Company;


c. That member suffers from mental disorders and other members of the Board of Directors have expertise evidences to prove he or she has no longer act capacity;

d. That member does not attend the meetings of the Board of Directors for six (06) months continuously without the approval of the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors shall make decision on the vacant position of that member;

dd. That member is dismissed by decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders.

e. .....................................................................................


5. The Board may appoint another person to be temporarily the Board member to replace the vacancy and this new member must be approved at the subsequent General Assembly of Shareholders. After being approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders, the appointment of new members shall be considered valid on the date of Board’s appointment. The term of Board new member is from the date of the effective appointment to the end of the term of office of the Board of Directors. In case the new member is not approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders, all decisions of the Board of Directors prior to the time of the General Assembly of Shareholders with voting participation of members of the Board of Directors instead are still regarded as validity.

6. The appointment of the Board members must be published under the provisions of the law on securities and the securities market.

7. The Board member may not be the shareholder of the Company.

Article 25. Power and duties of Board of Directors


1. The business operations and affairs of the Company shall be subject to the supervision and direction of the Board of Directors. It is the agency with full powers to exercise all the rights on behalf of the Company except for the competence of the General Assembly of Shareholders.

2. The Board is responsible for supervising the Executive Director (General Director) and other managers.

3. The rights and obligations of the Board of Directors shall be regulated by law and the Charter of the Company and the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders. Specifically, the Board has the following powers and duties:

a. To make decision on development of business and production and annual budget;

b. To define the operational objectives on the basis of the strategic objectives approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders;

c. To appoint and dismiss the managers of the Company at the request of the Director (General Director) and make decision on their salary rate;


d. To make decision on organizational structure of the company

đ. To resolve the complaint of the Company about management staff as well as the decision to select representatives of the Company to resolve issues related to the legal procedures concerning the management staff;

e. To propose classes of stock that may be issued and the total number of issued stock in each class;

g. To propose the issuance of convertible bonds and warrants allowing the holders to buy stocks at a predetermined price;

h. To decide the offering price of bonds, stocks and convertible securities in the case of authorization from the General Assembly of Shareholders;

i. To appoint, dismiss or remove the Executive Director (General Director), other managers and representatives of the Company. This dismissal must not be inconsistent with the contractual rights of the dismissed person (if any);

k. To make report to the General Assembly of Shareholders on the appointment of Executive  Director (General Director) of the Board of Directors.

l. To propose the annual dividend rate and determine the advanced dividend rate; to organize the payment of dividends;

m. To propose the re-organization or company dissolution.


4. The following issues must be approved by the Board of Directors:


a. Establishment of branches or representative offices of the Company;


b. Establishment of company’s affiliates;


c. To the extent specified in Clause 2, Article 108 of the Enterprise Law and unless otherwise specified in Clause 3 of Article 120 of the Enterprise Law must be approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders, the Board of Directors from time to time shall decide on the implementation, amendment and cancellation of the large contracts of the company (including the contract of purchase, sale, merger, company acquisition and joint venture);

d. Appointment and dismissal of the persons authorized by the Company as the company’s representatives the and lawyers;

dd. Loans and the implementation of mortgages, warranties, guarantees and compensation of the Company;

e. Investments not included in the business plan and budget exceeding........ Vietnam dong or the investments exceeding 10% of the value of the business plan and annual business budget;

g. Purchase or sale of shares, contributed capital in other companies established in Vietnam or abroad;

h. Valuation of the assets contributed to the Company not in cash related to the issuance of stocks or bonds of the Company, including gold, land use rights, intellectual property rights, technology and know-how technology;

i. Company’s purchase or recovery of no more than 10% of each class of shares;

k. Decision on rate of purchase or recovery price of shares of the Company;


l. Business issues or transactions decided by the Board need to have the approval to the extent of its authority and responsibility.

5. Board of Directors must report to the General Assembly of shareholders on its activities, in particular on the supervision of the Board of Directors over the Executive Director (General Director) and other managers in the financial year. Where the Board fails to submit a report to the General Assembly of Shareholders, the Company's annual financial statements are considered invalid and not approved by the Board.

6. Unless otherwise specified by the law and Charter, the Board may authorize its subordinates and managers to represent and handle work on behalf of the Company.

7. Board members (excluding the alternative authorized representative) shall receive remuneration for their work as Board members. Total remuneration for the Board of Directors shall be decided by the General Assembly of Shareholders. This remuneration is divided to the members of the Board of Directors as agreed upon in the Board of Directors or divided in case no agreement is reached.

8. Total amount paid to each member of the Board of Directors including the remuneration, expenses, commissions, share purchase rights and other benefits earned from the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies and other companies in which the Board members are representatives of the contributed capital must be published in detail in the annual report of the Company.

9. Board members holding Executive positions or Board members working in the sub-committee of the Board of Directors or performing other tasks that are beyond the scope of the common task of member of the Board of Directors may be paid additional remuneration in the form of a remuneration package for each time, salary, commission, percentage of profits or otherwise as decided by the Board of Directors.

10. Board members are entitled to be paid all travel expenses, accommodation and other reasonable expenses they have to pay when performing the responsibility of the Board members, including expenses incurred in attending the General Assembly of shareholders, the Board of Directors or the sub-committees of the Board.

Article 26. Chairman of Board of Directors


1. General Assemly of Shareholders or the Board of Directors must select from among the members of the Board of Directors to elect a Chairman. Unless otherwise decided by the General Assembly of Shareholders, the Chairman of the Board of Directors not concurrently holds the post of Executive Director (General Director) of the Company. That the Chairman of the Board cum the Executive  Director (General Director) must be approved annually at the Annual General Assembly of Shareholders.

2. Chairman of the Board of Directors shall convene and chair the General Assembly of Shareholders and the Board of Directors meeting, and the other rights and responsibilities as specified in this Charter and the Enterprise Law.

3. Chairman of the Board of Directors shall be responsible for ensuring the Board shall submit the annual financial report, activity report of the Company, audit reports and inspection reports of the Board of Directors to the shareholders at the General Assembly of shareholders.

4. Where the Chairman of the Board of Directors resign or is dismissed, the Board shall elect a substitute within ten (10) days.

Article 27. Board of Directors meetings


1. Where the Board of Directors elects the Chairman, the first meeting of the term of the Board of Directors to elect the Chairman and make other decisions under the competence should be made within seven (07) working days from the end date of the Board election of that tenure. This meeting is convened by the member with the highest number of votes. Where there is more than one (01) member with the equal highest number of votes, these members shall elect one of them to convene a meeting of the Board of Directors by majority rule.

2. Chairman of the Board of Directors shall convene the regular Board meetings, set the agenda, time and place of the meeting at least five (05) days before the scheduled meeting date. The Chairman may convene a meeting whenever necessary, but at least one meeting for every quarter.

3. Chairman of the Board of Directors shall convene extraordinary meetings when deemed it necessary for the benefit of the Company. In addition, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall convene a meeting of the Board of Directors and must not delay without plausible reason, when one of the following subjects has written proposal to present the purpose of the meeting and the issues to be discussed:

a. Giám đốc (Tổng giám đốc) điều hành hoặc ít nhất năm (05) cán bộ quản lý khác Executive Director (General Director) or at least other five (05) managers

b. At least two (02) Board members.

c. Supervisory Board.


4. Board meetings specified in Clause 3 of Article 27 shall be carried out within fifteen (15) days after the meeting proposal. Where the Chairman of the Board of Directors does not accept to convene under the proposal, the Chairman shall be responsible for the damages caused to the Company; the person who suggests the meeting specified in Clause 3 of Article 27 may themselves convene a meeting of the Board of Directors.

5. Where there is a request from the independent auditor, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall convene a meeting of the Board of Directors to discuss the audit reports and situation of the company.

6. Board meetings are conducted in the Company's registered address or any other address in Vietnam or abroad according to the decision of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and with the consent of the Board of Directors.

7. Notice of the Board meeting must be sent to the members of the Board of Directors at least five (05) days before the meeting, the members of the Board may deny the notice of meeting in writing and this refusal may have retroactive effect. Notice of the Board meeting shall be made ​​in Vietnamese and fully informed of the program, time and place of the meeting, together with the necessary documents on the matters to be discussed and voted on at the Board meeting and vote for the members of the Board unable to attend the meeting.

Notice of the meeting shall be sent by post, fax, e-mail or other means, but making sure it shall get to the address of each Board member registered at the Company.

8. The meetings of the first Board of Directors shall be conducted only when there are at least three-fourths (3/4) of the Board members present in person or through a representative (the authorized person).

In case there are not enough members to attend the meeting as prescribed, the meeting must be reconvened within fifteen (15) days after the first meeting. The meeting reconvened shall be conducted if there is more than one half (1/2) of the Board members attending the meeting.

9. Voting

a. Unless otherwise specified at Point b, Clause 9, Article 27, each member of the Board of Directors or the person authorized directly present personally at the Board meeting shall have one (01) vote;

b. The Board members are not entitled to vote on the contracts, transactions or proposals of which such members or persons related to such members have the benefits and these benefits conflict or could conflict with the interests of the Company. The Board members are not included in the minimum number of delegates needed to be present to organize the Board meeting on the decisions which such members do not have voting rights;

c. As prescribed at Point d, Clause 9, Article 27, when issues arise in a meeting of the Board of Directors relating to the interests of the members of the Board of The Directors or relating to the voting rights of a member but those problem can not be solved by voluntary waiver of the voting right of the Board members concerned, these issues arising shall be forwarded to the chairman of the meeting for decision. The award of the Chairman regarding these issues is a valid and final decision except where the nature or extent of the interests of members of the Board concerned has not been published in full;

d. The Board members enjoying benefits from a contract specified at Points a and b, Clause 4, Article 35 of this Charter are considered to have significant benefits in the contract.

10. The Board members directly or indirectly enjoy benefit from a transaction or contract has been signed or expected to be signed with the company and know themselves to have benefits including the responsibility for publication of the nature and content of that interest in the meeting in which the Board firstly considers the issue of signing of this contract or transaction. Where a member of the Board of Directors does not know himself and the person concerned has interests at the time the contract or transaction is signed with the company, this member of the Board of Directors must disclose relevant interests in the first meeting of the Board held after this member know that he has interests or will have interests in the transaction or contract involved.

11. Board of Directors shall adopt all decisions and make resolutions on the basis of the approval of a majority of the Board members present (50%). Where the number of votes for and against is equal, the vote of the Chairman of the Board of Directors is the decisive vote.

12. Board meeting can be held in the form of agenda between members of the Board of Directors when all or some of the members are in different locations, provided that each member attending the meeting can:

a. Listen to each of the other Board member to express their opinions in the meeting;

b. Speak with all the other participants simultaneously.

The discussion among members can be carried out directly by telephone or by other means of communication (including the use of these means at the time of adoption of Charter or later) or the combination of all these methods. The Board members participate in such a meeting is considered to be "present" at the meeting. The meeting location is held in accordance with this regulation is the location where the group of the largest members of the Board of Directors gather, or if there is no such group, the location shall be the place where the Chairman of the meeting is present.

The decisions adopted in a meeting through telephone are held and conducted properly and effectively right at the end of the meeting, but must be confirmed by the signature in the minutes of all members of the Board attending this meeting.

13. The Resolution in the form of opinion gathering in writing adopted on the basis of the approval of a majority of the Board members with voting rights. This Resolution is effective and valid as resolutions passed by the members of the Board of Directors at a meeting convened and held as usual.

14. The Chairman of the Board shall transfer the minutes of the Board meeting to the members and the minutes is the true evidence of work that has been carried out in the meetings except there are objections on the content of the minuted within ten (10) days after transfer. The minutes of the Board meetings shall be made ​​in Vietnamese language and must be signed by all Board members attending the meeting or the minutes shall be made ​​in multiple copies and each of them must be signed by at least one (01) Board member participating in the meeting.

15. The Board of Directors may establish and authorize affiliated sub-committees. The members of the sub-committees may include one or more members of the Board and one or more external members as decided by the Board. In the process of implementing the powers delegated, the sub-committees must comply with the regulations set out by the Board. These regulations can be adjusted or allow the additional admission of more people who are not members of the Board into the above sub-committees and allow those people to be entitled to vote as a member of the sub committees but (a) must ensure that the number of external members is less than half of the total number of the sub-committee members and (b) the resolutions of the sub- committees is valid only when a majority of the members who attend and vote at the meeting of the sub-committee are the Board members.

16. The implementation of the decision of the Board, or of the sub-committee directly under the Board of Directors, or of the person as a sub-committee member of the Board is considered to be valid even in the case the election or appointment of sub-committee members or the Board may have certain errors.

VIII. EXECUTIVE  GENERAL DIRECTOR, OTHER MANAGERS AND SECRETARY OF THE COMPANY

Article 28. Organization of management apparatus

Management system of the Company must ensure the management apparatus is responsible before the Board of Directors and under the leadership of the Board of Directors. The company has one (01) Executive  Director (General Director), the Executive  Deputy Director (Deputy General Director) and a chief accountant and other positions appointed by the Board of Directors. The appointment, dismissal and removal of the above positions must be made by resolution of the Board of Directors adopted properly

Article 29. Manager

1. At the request of the Executive Director (General Director) and approval of the Board of Directors, the Company shall be permitted to recruit managers as needed with the quantity and quality consistent with the structure and practice of company management proposed by the Board of Directors from time to time. The managers must have the necessary diligence for the operations and organization of the Company to achieve the objectives.

2. Salary, remuneration, benefits and other terms of the labor contract with the Executive Director (General Director) decided by the Board and contracted with other managers decided by the Board of Directors after consultation with the Director (General Director).

Article 30. Appointment, removal, duties and powers of the Executive Director (General Director).

1. Board of Directors shall appoint a member of the Board or another person as the Executive Director (General Director); sign contract which stipulates the salary rate, remuneration, benefits and other relevant terms. Information on salary rates, allowances and benefits of the Executive Director (General Director must be reported at the annual General Assembly of Shareholders and is stated in the Company's Annual Report.

2. The tenure of the Executive Director (General Director) is three (03) years and may be reappointed. The appointment may be invalidated on the basis of the provisions of the labor contract. The Executive Director (General Director) is not the person prohibited by law to hold this position.

3. The Executive Director (General Director) has the following powers and responsibilities:


a. To implement the resolutions of the Board of Directors and the General Assembly of Shareholders, business plans and investment plans of the Company approved by the Board of Directors and the General Assembly of Shareholders;

b. To decide all issues without a resolution of the Board of Directors, including the signing on behalf of the company of financial and commercial contracts, the organization and operation of daily business activities of the company in accordance with the best management practices;

c. To propose the number and types of managers that the company needs to recruit for the appointment or dismissal of the Board to implement good management activities as proposed by the Board, and consultation for the Board to make decision on salary, remuneration, benefits and other terms of the labor contract of the managers;

d. To consult the Board of Directors for decision on the number of employees, salary rates, allowances, benefits, appointment, dismissal and other terms related to their labor contracts;

dd) On ...... each year, the Executive Director (General Director) must present the Board for the approval of the detailed business plan for the next fiscal year on the basis of meeting the requirements of the appropriate budget as well as the five (05) year financial plan;

e. To propose measures to improve the operation and management of the Company;


g. To prepare the quarterly, Annual and long-term estimates of the Company (hereinafter referred to as estimate) for quarterly, Annual and long-term management activities of the Company under the business plan. The annual estimate (including balance sheet, report on the result of business and operation and report on expected cash flows) for each fiscal year must be presented for the adoption of the Board and must include the information specified in the regulations of the Company;

h. To perform all other activities under the provisions of this Charter  and the regulations of the Company and the resolutions of the Board of Directors, the labor contract of the Executive Director (General Director) and the law.

4. The Executive Director (General Director) shall take responsibilties before the Board of Directors and the General Assembly of Shareholders for the implementation of duties and powers assigned and must make report to these agencies as required.

5. The Board of Directors may dismiss the Executive Director (General Director) when the majority of Board members attending the meeting have the right to vote and appoint a new Executive Director (General Director) for substitution.

Article 31. Company Secretary

The Board of Directors shall appoint one (01) or more persons as Company Secretary for tenure and the terms decided by the Board of Directors. The Board may dismiss the Company Secretary when needed but not contrary to the provisions of the current labor law. The Board of Directors may also appoint one or more Company Secretary Assistant from time to time. The role and duties of the Company Secretary include:

1. To prepare the meetings of the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board and the General Assembly of Shareholders at the request of the Board or the Supervisory Board.

2. To consult on the procedures of the meeting.


3. To take part in the meetings.


4. To ensure the Board’s resolutions is in accordance with the law.


5. To provide financial information, copies of minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors and other information to members of the Board and Supervisory Board.

The company secretary is responsible for information security in accordance with the provisions of law and the Charter  of the Company.

IX. SUPERVISORY BOARD

Article 32. Supervisory Board members

1. The number of members of the Company's Supervisory Board is ....members. The Supervisory Board members who are not in the financial accounting department of the company and not as a member or employee of the independent audit company to perform the audit of the financial statements of the Company. The Supervisory Board must have at least one (01) member who is accountant or auditor.

The Supervisory Board members who are not related to the members of the Board of Directors, Executive Director (General Director) and other managers of the Company. The Supervisory Board shall appoint one (01) member as its head. The Head of Supervisory Board is the person having accounting profession. The Head of Supervisory Board shall have the following rights and responsibilities:

a. To convene the Supervisory Board meeting;


b. To request the Board of Directors, Managing Director (CEO) and other managers to provide relevant information to report to the Supervisory Board;

c. To prepare and sign the report of the Supervisory Board after consultation with the Board of Directors to submit to the General Assembly of Shareholders.

2. The shareholders have the right to include the number of votes for each person together to nominate candidates of the Supervisory Board. The shareholder or group of shareholders holding 5% to less than 10% of the total number of shares with voting rights shall be entitled to nominate one (01) candidate; from 10% to less than 30% shall be entitled to nominate up to two (02); from 30% to less than 40% shall be entitled to nominate up to three (03) candidates; from 40% to 50% shall be entitled to nominate up to four (04) candidates; from 50% to less than 60% shall be entitled to nominate up to five (05) candidates.

3. In case the number of Supervisory Board members through nomination and self-nomination is not enough for the number as needed, the incumbent Supervisory Board may nominate additional candidates or organize the nomination by the mechanism provided by the company in the internal regulations on corporate governance. The mechanism under which the incumbent Supervisory Board nominates the Supervisory Board candidates must be clearly published and must be approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders prior to the nomination.

4. The members of the Supervisory Board shall be elected by the General Assembly of Shareholders, the Supervisory Board's term does not exceed five (05) years; the Supervisory Board members may be re-elected with unlimited number of terms.

5. The Supervisory Board members shall no longer have the capacity as members in the following cases:


a. That member is prohibited by law to be a member of the Supervisory Board;


b. That member shall resign by a written notice sent to the head office of the Company;

c. That member suffers from mental disorders and other members of the Board of Directors have expertise evidences to prove he or she has no longer act capacity;

d. That member is absent from attending the meetings of the Supervisory Board for six (06) consecutive months without the consent of the Supervisory Board and the Supervisory Board has decided that this position of that person is left vacant;

e. That member is dismissed from the Supervisory Board member as decided by the General Assembly of Shareholders.

Article 33. Supervisory board

1. The company must have a Supervisory Board and the Supervisory Board has the power and responsibility under the provisions of Article 123 of the Enterprise Law and this Charter mainly the following powers and responsibilities:

a. To propose the selection of independent audit company, the audit fee and any related issues;


b. To discuss with the independent auditor on the nature and scope of the audit before the commencement of the audit;


c. To seek independent professional consultation or legal consultation and ensure the participation of experts outside the company with appropriate experience profession and qualifications for the company’s work if necessary;

d. To verify the quarterly, biannual and annual financial statements.

dd) To discuss the existing difficult problems and findings from the mid-term or final audit results as well as all the problems that independent auditors wish to discuss;

e. To review the management letter of the independent auditor and the feedback of the management board of the company;

g. To consider the company's report on internal control systems prior to the Board’s approval; and

h. To consider the results of the internal investigation and feedback of management board.


2. Members of the Board, Executive Director (CEO) and other managers must provide all information and documents relating to the operation of the Company at the request of the Supervisory Board. The Company Secretary shall ensure that all copies of the financial information and other information provided to the Board members and the copy of the minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors must be provided to members Supervisory Board at the same time they are provided to the Board.

3. The Supervisory Board may issue regulations on the meetings of the Supervisory Board and method of operation of the Board of Supervisors. The Supervisory Board must meet at least two (02) times a year and the number of members participating in the meeting is at least two (02) persons.

4. The remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board by the General Assemblyof Shareholders decided. The member of the Supervisory Board shall be paid the travel expenses, hotel and other expenses incurred reasonably when they participate in the meetings of the Supervisory Board or implementation of other activities of the Supervisory Board

X. DUTIES OF THE BOARD MEMBERS, SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBERS, EXECUTIVE  DIRECTOR (GENERAL DIRECTOR) AND OTHER MANAGERS

Article 34. Prudent responsibilities


The Board members, the Supervisory Board members, Executive Director (General Director) and other managers are responsible for the execution of their duties, including duties as the sub-committee members of the Board of Directors, honestly for the best interests of the Company and with the prudent level that a careful person must have upon taking on the same position and in similar circumstances.

Article 35. Honest responsibilities and avoidance of conflicts of interest

1. The Board members, the Supervisory Board members, the Executive Director (Deputy Director) and other managers are not allowed to use the business opportunities that are profitable to the company for the individual purpose, at the same time not permitted to use the information gained thanks to their position for personal benefit or to serve the interests of the organization or individual.

2. The Board members, the Supervisory Board members, the Executive Director (Deputy Director) and other managers are obliged to inform the Board of all interests that may conflict with the interests of the company that they can enjoy through the economic entity, transactions or other individual.

3. The Company does not provide loans or guarantees to the Board members, the Supervisory Board members, the Executive Director (Deputy Director) and other managers and the persons related to the members above mentioned or legal entity who has financial interests, except the above loans or guarantees have been approved by the General Assemmbly of shareholders.

4. The contract or transaction between the Company with one or more of the Board members, the Supervisory Board members, the Executive Director (Deputy Director) and other managers and the persons related to them or the company, partnership, association, or organization that the Board members, the Supervisory Board members, the Executive Director (Deputy Director) other managers and the persons related to them as the members, or related to the financial benefits shall not be disabled in the following cases:

a. For contracts valued at less than 20% of the total value of assets recorded in the most recent financial report, the key elements of the contract or transaction as well as the relationships and interests of managers or Board members have been reported to the Board or relevant sub-committee. At the same time, the Board of Directors or that sub-committee which has allowed the implementation of such contract or transaction honestly by a majority of votes of the members of the Board without relevant interests;

b. For contracts with a value greater than 20% of the total value of assets recorded in the most recent financial report, the key elements of the contract or transaction as well as the relationships and interests of the managers or members of the Board of Directors are announced to the shareholders having no relevant benefits with the right to vote on that issue, and those shareholders have voted for the contract or transaction;

c. The contract or transaction is regarded as fairness and reasonability by an independent consulting organization in all aspects related to the company's shareholders at the time the transaction or contract is permitted for the implementation by the Board of Directors or a sub-committee under the Board of Directors.

The Board members, the Supervisory Board members, the Executive Director (Deputy Director) and other managers and the persons related to the above members are not permitted to use the information that is not permitted for publication or disclosure to other people to carry out the relevant transactions.

Article 36. Responsibilities for damage and compensation.


1. The Board members, the Supervisory Board members, the Executive Director (Deputy Director) and other managers who violate their honest and prudent obligations and responsibilities, fail to fulfill their obligations with diligence and professional capacity shall take responsibility for the damage caused by their acts of violations.

2. Company compensation for those who have, are or may become a party involved in the complaints, lawsuits and prosecution (including civil and administrative cases, and not the lawsuits initiated by the Company as the petitioner) if that person was or is a member of the Board of Directors, managers, employees, or representatives authorized by the company or that person has or is implementing at the request of the Company as Board members, managers, employees, or authorized representative of the Company provided that he or she has acted honestly and prudently and diligently for the benefit without being against the highest interests of the Company, on the basis of compliance with the law and there is no evidence to confirm that that person has violated his responsibilities. When performing the tasks or executing the work as authorized by the Company, the Board member, Supervisory Board member, managers, employees, or authorized representatives of the company shall be compensated by the  company when becoming a party concerned in complaints, lawsuits and prosecution (except for the lawsuits where the petitioner is the company) in the following cases:

a. To have acted honestly, prudently and diligently for the interests and not conflicted with the interests of the Company;

b. To comply with the law and there is no evidence to confirm the non-performance of their responsibilities.

3. The compensation expense include accrued expenses (including attorneys fees), judgment expense, fines, amounts payable arising actually or is considered to be reasonable when dealing with these cases in the framework of the law allowed. The company can buy insurance for these people to avoid the compensation liability above mentioned.

XI. RIGHT TO INSPECT BOOKS AND RECORDS OF COMPANY

Article 37. Right to inspect books and records

1. Shareholder or group of shareholders specified in Clause 2 of Article 24 and Clause 2 of Article 32 of this Charter may directly or through authorized person, send a written request to check the list of shareholders, minutes of meetings of the General Assembly of Shareholders and photocopy or extract such records during working hours and at the company’s headquarters. The request for checking by authorized representatives of the shareholders must be accompanied by a written authorization of the shareholders represented by that person or a certified copy of this written authorization.

2. The Board member, Supervisory Board member, Executive Director (General Director) and managers have the right to check the book of shareholder registration of the company, the list of shareholders and other books and records of the Company for purposes relating to their positions provided that such information must be kept confidential.

3. The company must keep this Charter  and the amendments of the Charter , the business registration certificate, the regulations, the documents proving the ownership of assets, resolutions of the General Assembly of Shareholders and the Boards of Directors, the minutes of the General Assembly of Shareholders and the Boards of Directors, the reports of the Board of Directors, the reports of the Supervisory Board, the annual financial statements, accounting books and any other documents as prescribed by law at the headquarters or another place, provided that the shareholders and the business registration agency are informed of the document storage location.

4. The company Charter must be published on the website of the Company.

XII. EMPLOYEES AND UNION

Article 38. Employees and union

1. The Executive Director (General Director) must make plans for the Board to adopt the issues related to recruitment, employee severance, salary, social insurance, benefits, rewards and discipline for employees and managers.

2. The Executive Director (General Director) must make plans for the Board to adopt the issues related to the Company's relationship with the trade union organizations under the standards, practices and the best management policies. The practices and policies specified in this Charter, the company's regulations and current regulations of law.

XIII. PROFIT DISTRIBUTION


Article 39. Profit distribution


1. The General Assembly of Shareholders shall decide the rate of dividend payment and the form of an annual dividend payment from the retained revenue of the Company.

2. As prescribed by the Enterprise Law, the Board may decide on the advance of mid-term dividend given that such payment is consistent with the company's profitability.

3. The company does not pay interest on the payment of dividends or the amounts paid related to a class of stocks.

4. The Board may request the General Assembly of Shareholders to adopt the payment of all or part of the dividend in stocks and the Board is the executing agency of this decision.


5. In case of dividends or other amounts related to a class of stock is paid in cash, the Company shall pay in Vietnam dong. The payment can be done directly or through the banks on the basis of the detailed information provided by the shareholders. Where the Company has transferred in accordance with the bank details provided by shareholders but those shareholders do not receive money, the company is not responsible for money that the company has transferred to the shareholders for the benefit. The payment of dividends on the shares listed in the stock exchange can be carried out through a securities company or the Vietnam Securities Depository Center.

6. Pursuant to the Enterprise Law, the Law on Securities, the Board of Directors shall adopt a resolution to determine a specific date to close the list of shareholders. Based on that day, those who register as a shareholders or owners of securities are entitled to receive dividends, interests, profit distribution, stocks, notice or other documents.

7. Other issues related to the profit distribution shall be made ​​in accordance with the law.

XIV. BANK ACCOUNT, RESERVE FUND, FISCAL YEAR AND ACCOUNTING SYSTEM

Article 40. Bank account

1. The company that opens bank account in Vietnam or in foreign banks licensed to operate in Vietnam.

2. Under the prior approval of the competent authority, in case of necessity, the Company can open bank accounts in foreign countries under the provisions of law.

3. The company shall conduct all payments and accounting transactions through the account of Vietnamese currency or foreign currencies in the banks that the Company opens accounts.

Article 41. Fiscal year

The company's fiscal year begins on the first date of the month ....each year and ends on ….date ... of the month ........ The first fiscal year starts from the date of issuance of the business registration certificate and ends on ….date of the month.... immediately after the date of issuance of the business registration certificate.

Article 42. Accounting system

1. The accounting system that the company uses is the Vietnamese Accounting System (VAS) or other accounting systems approved by the Ministry of Finance.

2. The company sets up accounting books in Vietnamese. The Company shall keep accounting records by type of business operations in which the company involved. These records must be accurate, updated and sufficient to prove and explain the Company's transactions.

3. The company uses Vietnam dong (or foreign currency freely convertible in the case approved by the competent state agencies) as the unit of currency used in accounting.

XV. ANNUAL REPORT, RESPONSIBILITY FOR PUBLICATION OF INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE PUBLIC

Article 43. Quarterly, biannual and annual financial statement

1. The company must make annual financial statement in accordance with the law and regulations of the State Securities Commission and the audit report as prescribed in Article 45 of this Charter , and within...... days after the end of each fiscal year to submit the annual financial statement approved by the General Assembly of shareholders to the competent tax authority, the State Securities Commission, the Stock Exchange (for listed companies) and business registration agencies.

2. The annual financial statement must include the statement of the result of business operations and reflect honestly and objectively the situation of profits and losses of the Company during the fiscal year, the balance sheet reflects honestly and objectively the situation of operation of the Company as of the time of report preparation, cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements.

3. The company shall establish and publish a biannual and quarterly report in accordance with the provisions of the State Securities Commission and the Securities Exchange (for listed companies) and submit them to the tax authorities concerned and the business registration agencies in accordance with the provisions of the Enterprise Law.

4. The audited financial statements (including the auditor's opinion), biannual and quarterly reports of the Company must be published on the website of the Company.

5. Organizations and individuals concerned have the right to check or copy the audited annual financial statements, biannual and quarterly reports during working hours of the Company, at the headquarters of the Company and must pay a reasonable fee for copying.

Article 44. Annual report.

The company must prepare and publish annual report in accordance with the law on securities and securities markets.

XVI. COMPANY AUDIT

Article 45. Audit

1. The annual General Assembly of Shareholders shall appoint an independent auditing company or adopt a list of independent auditing company and authorize the Board of Directors to decide on one of these units to conduct the auditing activities to the company for the next fiscal year based on the terms and conditions agreed with the Board of Directors. The company must prepare and submit the annual financial statement to the independent auditing company after the end of the fiscal year.

2. The independent auditing company shall check, confirm and make report on the annual financial statement that reflects the Company's revenues and expenditures, prepare the audit report and submit the report to the Board within two (02) months after the end of the fiscal year.

3. The copy of the audit report is sent and attached to the annual financial statement of the Company.

4. The auditors performing the Company’s audit shall be allowed to attend the General Assembly of Shareholders and are entitled to receive notices and other information related to the General Assembly of Shareholders that the shareholders are entitled to receive and express their opinions on issues related to the audit.

XVII. SEAL

Article 46. Seal

1. The Board shall decide to adopt the company's official seal and the seal is fixed in accordance with regulations of law.

2. The Board of Directors, Executive Director (General Director) use and manage the seal in accordance with current regulations of law.

XVIII. TERMINATION OF OPERATION AND LIQUIDATION

Article 47. Termination of operation

1. The Company may be dissolved or terminated in the following cases:

a. At the end of the period of operation of the company, even after the extension;

b. The Court declares the company’s bankruptcy in accordance with current regulations of law.

c. Being dissolved ahead of time by decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders;

d. Other cases as prescribed by regulations of law.


2. The dissolution of the company occurs ahead of time (including the extended period) shall be decided by the General Assembly of Shareholders, the Board of Directors shall implement it. This decision on dissolution must be announced or approved by the competent authority (if required) as prescribed.

Article 48. Operation extension

1. The Board of Director shall convene a General Assembly of Shareholders at least seven (07) months before the expiration of operation for shareholders to vote on the extension of the Company's operations at the request of the Board of Directors.

2. Duration of operation extended when there is 65% or more of the total unanimous votes of the shareholders with the voting right present in person or through an authorized representative present at the General Assembly of Shareholders.

Article 49. Liquidation

1. A minimum of six (06) months before the expiration of the Company's duration of operation or after a decision to dissolve the Company, the Board of Directors must establish a Liquidation Committee including three (03) members. Two (02) members are nominated by the General Assembly of Shareholders and one (01) member is appointed by the Board from an independent auditing company. The Liquidation Committee shall prepare its operation regulations. The members of the Liquidation Committee can be selected from among the employees of the Company or an independent expert. All costs related to the liquidation shall be prioritized for payment by the Company prior to other debts of the Company.

2. The Liquidation Committee shall report to the business registration agencies on the date of establishment and operation commencement date. Since that time, the Liquidation Committee shall act on behalf of the Company in all work related to the liquidation of the Company before courts and administrative agencies.

3. The proceeds from the liquidation to be paid in the following order:


a. Liquidation costs;


b. Salaries and insurance costs for employees;


c. Tax and payables to the State;


d. Loans (if any);


dd. Other debts of the company;


e. Remaining balance after payment of all debts from item (a) to
(dd) above shall be distributed to the shareholders. The preferred shares are prioritized for prior payment.

XIX. INTERNAL DISPUTE SETTLEMENT

Article 50. Internal dispute settlement

1. In case of disputes or complaints related to the Company's operations or to the rights and obligations of the shareholders as stipulated in the company Charter , the Enterprise Law and other laws or administrative regulations stipulating between:

a. Shareholders with the Company;


b. Shareholders with the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board, Executive Director (General Director) or senior managers,

The parties concerned shall try to resolve the dispute through negotiation and conciliation. Except for disputes concerning the Board of Directors or the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall resolve the disputes and require each party to present practical factors related to the dispute within .... working days from the date the dispute arising. In case of disputes related to the Board of Directors or the Chairman of the Board, any party may request .......... to appoint an independent expert to act as an arbitrator for the dispute settlement process.

2. In case of failure to achieve the reconciliation decision within six (06) weeks from the start of the process of reconciliation or if the mediator's decision is not accepted by the parties, any party may refer the dispute to the economic Arbitration economics or economic Court.

3. The parties shall bear their own costs related to the negotiation and mediation procedures. The payment of the costs of the court shall comply with the judgment of the Court.

XX. SUPPLEMENTATION AND AMDENDMENT OF CHARTER 

Article 51. Supplementation and amdendment of Charter 

1. The supplementation and amendment of this Charter must be approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders for consideration and decision.

2. In case there are provisions of the law related to the Company's operations have not been mentioned in this Charter or in the case of the new provisions of law other than the provisions of this Charter, the provisions of the law which, of course, shall apply and adjust the operation of the company.

XXI. EFFECTIVE DATE

Article 52. Effective date

1. This Charter including 21 chapters, 52 Articles has been adopted by the General Assembly of Shareholders unanimously on the date ... month ...year ... at.................. and approved the effect of full text of this Charter.

2. This Charter is made ​​in ten (10) copies of equal value, in which:

a. One (01) copy is submitted at the local State Notary Office.


b. Five (05) copies registered at the government agencies as prescribed by the People's Committee of provinces and cities;

c. Four (04) copies are kept at the Headquarters of the Company.


3. This Charter is unique and official one of the Company.

4. The copies or extracts of the Charter become valid only when they are signed by the Chairman of the Board or at least one-half (1/2) the total number of Board members.

Full name and signature of the legal representative or of the founding shareholders or the authorized representatives of the founding shareholders of the Company. /.


